In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

FLOYD LAVENDER, et al.,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

Case No. S209975 SEP 9 - 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District Division One, Case Nos. D057655, D057686 Imperial County Superior Court, Case No. JCF21567 The Honorable Donal B. Donnelly, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Where a reviewing court is presented with conflicting affidavits that create material, disputed issues of fact regarding the nature and extent of jury misconduct, should it remand the matter to the trial court for a limited hearing [People v. Hedgecock (1990) 51 Cal.3d 395 (Hedgecock)], so that the record may be fully developed before it determines whether the presumption of prejudice has been rebutted?

INTRODUCTION

Appellants Floyd Lavender and William James Gaines terrorized Kristen Martin, Mike Hughes, Thayne Tolces, and 14-year-old Courtney Bowser, for nine hours, using a hammer, nails, a chisel, and hair clippers in the process. They also took or carried a handcuffed Bowser from the scene and later drowned her in an irrigation canal.

After their convictions for murder, kidnapping, and torture, appellants filed a motion for a new trial, based in part on allegations of juror misconduct. In support of their motion, appellants attached affidavits from three jurors and a defense investigator, which alleged that several jurors had discussed at length the fact that appellants had failed to testify, and had concluded they were guilty for that reason. In opposition to the motion, the prosecution provided affidavits from four jurors, including two of the same jurors who had also provided affidavits to the defense. Those affidavits indicated that only one juror had briefly mentioned appellants' failure to testify, and that this juror was quickly admonished by several other jurors, including the foreperson, not to consider that fact.

The trial court denied appellants' motion, and sentenced them both to state prison. Appellants appealed the judgment. Division One of the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed and remanded the matter for a new trial, finding that the prosecution's affidavits had failed to rebut the

presumption of prejudice arising from the misconduct alleged in the affidavits presented by the defense.

The Court of Appeal's modified opinion failed to squarely address an issue that is central to the resolution of this case: What exactly did the parties' affidavits prove, given their contradictory nature? Instead, it begged that question by concluding the defense affidavits established that the jurors committed prejudicial misconduct. But this is a factual question that cannot be resolved on a cold appellate record. Since the trial court is in the best position to resolve the credibility disputes and make the necessary factual findings concerning the nature of the misconduct here, the Court of Appeal erred by reversing the judgment and granting appellants a new trial without first remanding the matter for an evidentiary hearing under *Hedgecock*.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On August 14, 2003, or the following day, Kristen Martin, Mike Hughes, Thayne Tolces and 14-year-old Courtney Bowser, gathered at the apartment of Angela Vereen. They spent the better part of the next four days playing video games and smoking methamphetamine. (4 GCT 953; 6 LRT 617-622; 8 LRT 981-982; 9 LRT 1143-1145, 1168; 11 LRT 1572.) At some point after her visitors had left, Vereen noticed that two blank "traveler's checks" she had left on her desk in a yellow envelope were missing. (5 LRT 327-330.) They had been entrusted to her by appellant Gaines, and she immediately called him to report the suspected theft. (5 LRT 334.) Appellants arrived at Vereen's apartment, and spent the next nine hours torturing Martin, Hughes, Tolces, and Bowser. (6 LRT 649; 8 LRT 986-987; 1027, 1098-1100.)

Appellants heated up spoons, knives, and forks with a lighter, and they used them to burn Bowser's breasts and Martin's forehead. They also

stuck the tines of the fork in Bowser's legs. (6 LRT 636-637, 702; 8 LRT 999-1002; 9 LRT 1149-1151, 1181, 1203-1204, 1207, 1263.) Appellant Lavender took Martin and Bowser into the bathroom and handcuffed them together, suspending their arms from the shower rod in the bathroom. (9 LRT 1151-1152.) Lavender took a pair of scissors and cut Martin's shirt from the bottom up, cutting through her bra and exposing her breasts. (9 LRT 1152-1153.) Lavender did the same with Bowser, and then pulled down her pants as well. While rubbing the scissors along their bodies, he told the girls that if they did not reveal the location of the checks, he was "going to put the scissors up [them]." (9 LRT 1152-1153.) Either Gaines or Lavender threatened the girls at some point that they would take them out to the desert and "make [them] dig [their] own hole." (9 LRT 1259-1260.)

Hughes and Tolces were taken to the living room, where appellant Gaines hit Hughes either in the forehead or his face with the butt of his gun. (5 LRT 342, 383; 8 LRT 997, 1091-1092.) Gaines also threw a knife at Tolces. (8 LRT 998.) Next, appellant Gaines either placed Hughes on the floor, or knocked him to the floor by striking him in the head with either a hammer or a chisel. Martin initially feared that Hughes was dead. Appellant Gaines began to tap the end of the chisel on a portion of Hughes's ear. Gaines then used the hammer to pound the flat ends of some nails into Hughes's head. (6 LRT 648-649; 8 LRT 997-998; 9 LRT 1154-1155, 1209-1211.)

Hughes's trauma was enough to prompt a distraught Bowser to confess that she had taken the checks. (6 LRT 651-652.) After that point Lavender and Gaines, along with Vereen, took turns slapping Bowser, punching her, and pulling her hair. As they did, they kept saying, "You're going to die, bitch, you're going to die." (6 LRT 652-653.) Next, either Gaines or Lavender began to shave Bowser's head with some clippers, and at some point had Tolces do so as well. (6 LRT 654-656, 711; 8 LRT 1003-

1004, 1054-1055, 1095-1096; 9 LRT 1156, 1185-1186, 1197-1198.) Near daybreak, appellants wrapped a trench coat around the still sobbing Bowser, and took her handcuffed from the apartment. (7 LRT 809-810; 8 LRT 1003-1004, 1051-1052; 9 LRT 1156-1157.)

Vereen ran into appellant Gaines later the next morning. Referring to Bowser, appellant Gaines told Vereen that, "The girl is in a canal with a bag over her head barely breathing." (5 LRT 348-349, 387.)

On August 20, 2003, Bowser's body was discovered in an irrigation ditch leading from the Pansy Canal, but it was not identified until sometime in February 2006. (11 LRT 1456-1460, 1525, 1571; 13 LRT 1938.) The forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy testified that the condition of Bowser's body suggested she was still alive while she was placed in the water, that she had struggled while being held under, and that she had died of drowning. (10 LRT 1336-1338, 1342, 1347.)

On June 27, 2008, the Imperial County District Attorney filed an information alleging both appellants committed willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder (Pen. Code, §§ 187, subd. (a) and 189; count 1); kidnapping (Pen. Code, § 207, subd. (a); count 2); torture (Pen. Code, § 206; counts 3-5); and false imprisonment (Pen. Code, § 236; counts 6-9). (1 GCT 38-42.)

On May 4, 2010, the jury convicted both appellants of all counts. (3 GCT 688-696; 2 LCT 393-401; 15 LRT 2229-2236.) On May 28, 2010, the court below granted appellants' unopposed motion to dismiss counts 6-9 on grounds that they were time-barred. (3 GCT 739; 2 LCT 435; 15 LRT 2250-2251.)

On June 30, 2010, appellants filed their motion for a new trial which was based in part on allegations of juror misconduct, and supported by declarations from Juror No. 9, Juror No. 4, and Juror No. 10. (3 GCT 849; 4 GCT 851, 853.) In its opposition, the prosecution submitted "clarifying"

affidavits from Juror No. 9 and Juror No. 4, as well as additional affidavits from Juror No. 12 and Juror No. 5. (4 GCT 899, 901, 903, 905.) Appellants also submitted a declaration from a defense investigator, challenging the statements made by Juror No. 9 and Juror No. 4 in their clarifying affidavits. (4 GCT 941-942.)

During the hearing on the motion, the trial court ruled the following portions of the declarations submitted by appellants were admissible: from the declaration of Juror No. 9, her statement that, "Several jurors also discussed the fact that the defendants did not testify in this case" (16 LRT 2327); from the declaration of Juror No. 4, his statement that, "The fact that the defendants did not testify was discussed at length during the deliberations" (16 LRT 2327-2328); and from the declaration of Juror No. 10, his statement that, "There was no testimony from the defendants and we discussed this fact during deliberations" (16 LRT 2328).

The court below also ruled the following portions of the declarations submitted by the prosecution were admissible: from the clarifying declaration of Juror No. 9, her statement that, "The only discussion that occurred during deliberations regarding the defendants not testifying is when one of the jurors mentioned it. The foreperson immediately admonished that juror that we could not consider that issue. Several other jurors then also repeated that it was an issue that we could not consider" (16 LRT 2331); from the declaration of Juror No. 12, his statement that, "The only discussion that occurred during deliberations regarding the defendants not testifying is when one of the jurors mentioned it. I immediately admonished that juror that we could not consider that issue. I specifically recall that [Juror No. 11], also stated that we were not to consider that issue and must follow the instructions" (16 LRT 2331-2332); from the clarifying declaration of Juror No. 4, his statement that, "The only discussion that occurred during deliberations regarding the defendants not testifying is

when a juror mentioned it. The foreperson immediately told the juror that we could not consider that issue." (16 LRT 2333.)

The trial court ruled that the declaration of the defense investigator was inadmissible in its entirety. (16 LRT 2333-2334.)

The trial court found that misconduct had occurred, as one or more jurors had mentioned the fact that appellants had not testified, but that the discussion was brief and the foreperson had immediately admonished the juror or jurors that they were not to consider that fact. (16 LRT 2335-2336.) Accordingly, the trial court found that the prosecution had rebutted the presumption of prejudice by making a showing that "no actual prejudice occurred that affected the defendants' right to a fair trial." (16 LRT 2335-2336.) The trial court also found that appellants had not made the requisite showing to obtain a hearing under *Hedgecock*, because there were no "clearly defined and specific disputes on material issues relating to misconduct," and it "would likely result in the Court or counsel improperly inquiring into subjective thought processes of the jury." (16 LRT 2336-2337.) The trial court then denied appellants' motions and sentenced them to a term of 25 years to life for their violation of count 1; a consecutive term of 5 years for their violation of count 2; and 3 terms of life with the possibility of parole for their violations of counts 3-5, to run concurrently to each other and consecutively to their sentence for count 1. (4 GCT 925-926, 973-976; 2 LCT 455-456, 506-509; 16 LRT 2375-2378.)

Appellants appealed the judgment. In an opinion authored by Justice McDonald, the Court of Appeal unanimously reversed, and remanded the matter for a new trial. (*Lavender I*, Slip Opn. at 37.) The Court of Appeal found the trial court erred by excluding the statements Juror No. 4 made in his original declaration; namely, that the jury's discussions regarding appellants' refusal to take the witness stand "played a large part in our decision," and that "[w]e discussed the fact that if the [defendants] were

innocent then they should've testified." (*Lavender I*, Slip Opn. at 25.) The Court of Appeal also found the trial court erred when it excluded the statements from Juror No. 10's declaration that the jury "openly talked about why they did not testify and that this fact made them appear guilty to us" and that "[t]he jurors discussed that the defendants should have provided more witnesses, including themselves, to testify on their behalf." (*Lavender I*, Slip Opn. at 26.)

The Court of Appeal also held that many of the statements made by the defense investigator were admissible. These included the following statements regarding the clarifying affidavit submitted by Juror No. 4: "this is . . . not what [Juror No. 4] told me. [Juror No. 4] told me that the defendants not testifying was discussed for some period of time and was more than a mere mentioning of that fact. He also told me that the jury discussed that if they were really innocent they would have testified. He never said that [the foreperson] or any other juror admonished them to stop talking about that or that they could not consider this in their deliberations," and the following statements regarding the clarifying affidavit submitted by Juror No. 9: "This is not what she told me when I first interviewed her. [Juror No. 9] told me that several jurors discussed the fact that the defendants did not testify. She did say that at some later point in time that a juror said that they should not discuss that. She never told me that the foreperson immediately put a stop to the discussion." (Lavender I, Slip Opn. at 27-28, fn. 27.)

The Court of Appeal then found the jurors' declarations established that the jury discussed appellants' failure to testify, and "the adverse inference to be drawn from that fact." (*Lavender I*, Slip Opn. at 28.)

The Court of Appeal held, "as in *Cissna* [*People v. Cissna* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1105, 1116 (*Cissna*)], the entire case turned on the credibility of witnesses whose versions were at best internally inconsistent in many

particulars. Under the facts of this case, we cannot conclude the jury's discussion of defendants' failure to testify, which 'presumptively establish[ed] prejudicial jury misconduct' (*People v. Perez* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 893, 908-909), did not warrant a new trial because we cannot conclude " 'upon examining the entire record, that there is no substantial likelihood that [defendants] suffered actual harm [from the misconduct]." '(*In re Carpenter*[(1995)]9 Cal.4th [634,] 654[(*Carpenter*)].)" (*Lavender I*, Slip Opn. at 30-31.)

The Court of Appeal further held, "Here, unlike the situations in Hord, [People v. Hord (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 711 (Hord)], Leonard [People v. Leonard (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1370 (Leonard)] and Loker [People v. Loker (2008) 44 Cal.4th 691 (Loker)], the discussion about defendants' failure to testify was not limited to expressions of regret or curiosity, but instead was expressly linked to the adverse inference of guilt to be drawn from the failure to testify." (Lavender I, Slip Opn. at 33.) In a footnote, the Court of Appeal added, "Although the foreman here told the jury not to consider the fact of the defendant's failure to testify, as occurred in Loker and Hord (Loker, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 748; Hord, supra, 15 Cal.App.4th at p. 728), neither Loker nor Hord involved a jury that also discussed the inference of guilt it would draw from that fact, and therefore neither case supports the notion that a jury foreman's admonition can cure the taint created by such discussions." (Lavender I, Slip Opn. at 33, fn. 29, emphasis in the original.)

On July 24, 2012, the People filed a Petition for Rehearing, arguing the case should be remanded to the trial court so that it could hold a limited hearing in light of the newly admitted evidence, be afforded the opportunity to receive testimony from the jurors, and resolve the factual conflicts in the first instance. On July 27, 2012, the Court of Appeal denied the petition. Justice Nares was of the opinion that it should be granted.

On August 21, 2012, respondent filed its first Petition for Review.

On October 24, 2012, this Court unanimously granted respondent's petition, and transferred the matter to the Court of Appeal with directions to vacate its decision and reconsider the cause in light of *People v. Bryant* (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1457, 1462-1471 (*Bryant*); *People v. Von Villas* (1992) 11 Cal.App.4th 175, 251-261 (*Von Villas*); and *People v. Perez* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 893, 905-909 (*Perez*). All three of the cited opinions concluded a remand for an evidentiary hearing was the appropriate remedy.

On March 6, 2013, the Court of Appeal issued its modified opinion and held, "We have examined *Perez*, as well as its progeny *Bryant* and *Von Villas*, and conclude those cases are both distinguishable and involve questionable legal reasoning that should not be perpetuated, and therefore our original disposition should remain unchanged." (*Lavender II*, Slip Opn. at 4.) The Court of Appeal added, "After reconsideration, we remain convinced the misconduct by this jury in discussing the adverse inference to be drawn from defendants' failure to testify was presumptively prejudicial and, because the evidentiary basis for the guilty verdict appeared diaphanous and was in many respects in disarray, the record in this case is inadequate to rebut that presumption." (*Lavender II*, Slip Opn. at 4.) The Court of Appeal reversed, and set the matter for retrial after concluding that the evidence was sufficient to support appellants' convictions for all offenses. (*Lavender II*, Slip Opn. at 50-52.)

On April 15, 2013, respondent filed its second Petition for Review, which this Court unanimously granted on June 12, 2013.

ARGUMENT

I. IN LIGHT OF THE AFFIDAVITS' INCONSISTENCIES, THE PROPER REMEDY IN THIS CASE IS A REMAND FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, NOT A NEW TRIAL

In its second opinion, the Court of Appeal concluded that, notwithstanding this Court's order for reconsideration, it would adhere to its original decision, reverse the convictions, and remand the cause for a new trial "because the admissible evidence demonstrated that misconduct occurred and our independent review of the entire record convinces us the presumption of prejudice from the misconduct has not been rebutted." (*Lavender II*, Slip Opn. at 48.)

In so holding, the Court of Appeal erred, because it acted as the trier of fact, chose to credit the account of the misconduct that was contained in the defense affidavits, and then made its determination that appellants suffered actual harm without giving the court below the opportunity to receive additional evidence and testimony, assess the credibility of the declarants, resolve the contradictions in their accounts of what took place during deliberations, and make the crucial factual findings in the first instance. Given the unresolved material, disputed issues of fact in this case, a remand for an evidentiary hearing under *Hedgecock*, and not a new trial, is the appropriate remedy.

A. Case Law On Motions For A New Trial Based On Juror Misconduct

A criminal defendant has a right to have the charges against him determined by an unbiased and impartial jury. (U.S. Const., 6th & 14th Amends.; *In re Hitchings* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 97, 110.) The Fifth Amendment also provides that "no person 'shall be compelled in any case to be a witness against himself,'" and it is a violation of that constitutional principle if a jury draws any inference of guilt from a defendant's decision

not to take the stand in a criminal trial. (*Leonard*, *supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1424.) Accordingly, where a juror violates the trial court's instructions not to discuss a defendant's failure to testify, that juror commits misconduct. (*Loker*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 749.)

When a party seeks a new trial based upon jury misconduct, the trial court undertakes a three-step inquiry. "First, the court must determine whether the evidence presented for its consideration is admissible." (*Hord*, *supra*, 15 Cal.App.4th at p. 724, citing Evidence Code section 1150, subdivision (a).) "Once the court finds the evidence is admissible, it must then consider whether the facts establish misconduct." (*People v. Duran* (1997) 50 Cal.App.4th 103, 113, citing *In re Stankewitz* (1985) 40 Cal.3d 391, 398 (*Stankewitz*); *Perez, supra*, 4 Cal.App.4th at p. 906, citing *Krouse v. Graham* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 59, 79-82 (*Krouse*).) Finally, if it finds that misconduct has occurred, the trial court "must determine whether the misconduct was prejudicial." (*Perez, supra*, 4 Cal.App.4th at p. 906.)

A trial court has broad discretion to hold an evidentiary hearing in order to determine the truth or falsity of allegations of jury misconduct, to resolve any factual disputes raised by a claim of juror misconduct, and to those ends, to permit the parties to call jurors to testify at such a hearing. (*People v. Avila* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 491, 604; *People v. Dykes* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 731, 809.) However, a defendant is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing as a matter of right. (*People v. Avila*, *supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 604.)

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