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

(Slip Opinion filed 3/6/13 at p. 23 [ruling 16 RTL 2327-2330].) With regard to the declarations submitted by the prosecution, the trial court ruled as follows:

- (1) Juror No. 9's statement in her clarifying declaration that "[t]he only discussion that occurred during deliberations regarding the defendants not testifying is when one of the jurors mentioned it. The foreperson immediately admonished that juror that we could not consider that issue. Several other jurors then also repeated that it was an issue that we could not consider" was admitted. The court excluded the balance of her original declaration as reflecting thought processes of the jury, or as irrelevant or hearsay.
- (2) Juror No. 4's statement in his clarifying declaration that "[t]he only discussion that occurred during deliberations regarding the defendants' not testifying is when a juror mentioned it. The foreperson immediately told the juror that we could not consider that issue" was admitted.
- (3) Juror No. 12's statement that "[t]he only discussion that occurred during deliberations regarding the defendants not testifying is when one of the jurors mentioned it. I immediately admonished that juror that we could not consider that issue. I specifically recall that Juror No. 11... also stated that we were not to consider that issue and must follow the instructions" was admitted. The court excluded the balance of Juror No. 12's declaration.

(Lavender II, Slip Opn. at pp. 23-24 [ruling 16 RTL 2331-2333].)

In ruling on the motion for new trial the trial court found juror misconduct: "Based upon the state of the evidence before the court, I'll find that jury misconduct did occur. At least one — if not more than one — juror mentioned that the defendants did not testify during the deliberations process." (16 RTL 2335.) However, the court denied the motion finding as follows:

However, based upon all of the evidence before the court, I'll find that this presumption of prejudice has been rebutted by a

showing that no actual prejudice occurred that affected the defendants' right to a fair trial.

Specifically, I'll note that one issue of misconduct is whether it adversely affected the jury's impartiality, lightened any burden of proof or removed a defense in the case.

I'll further note that the case law appears to require more than a brief and transitory violation of the court's instructions. I specifically find that the admonition by the foreperson as stated to the jury cured the misconduct. And the defense at this point has — forgive me, the prosecution has met its burden to rebut the showing of misconduct and has demonstrated that no actual prejudice occurred.

(16 RTL 2335-2336.)

The Court of Appeal determined that the trial court had incorrectly ruled on the admissibility of certain key portions of the declarations submitted by the defense. Specifically, the court found:

Although the court admitted Juror No. 4's statement (in his original declaration) that "the fact that the defendants did not testify was discussed at length during the deliberations," it excluded his statements that these discussions "played a large part in our decision" and that "[w]e discussed the fact that if the [defendants] were innocent then they should've testified." The latter statement clearly represented "statements that are objectively ascertainable by sight, hearing, or the other senses" [citation], and should have been admitted. The former statement, while arguably describing the "subjective reasoning processes" of the jury, is at least equally capable of an interpretation that described the quantitative level at which the failure to testify was involved in the jury's discussions, and therefore was admissible as objectively ascertainable conduct.

Although the court admitted Juror No. 10's statement that "[t]here was no testimony from the defendants and we discussed this fact during the deliberations," it excluded the balance of the declaration. While most of the balance of Juror No. 10's

statement was inadmissible, the court excluded two statements (e.g. that the jury "openly talked about why they did not testify and that this fact made them appear guilty to us" and that "[t]he jurors discussed that the defendants should have provided more witnesses, including themselves, to testify on their behalf") that clearly represented "statements that are objectively ascertainable by sight, hearing, or the other senses" [citation], and should have been admitted.

(Lavender II, Slip Opn. at pp. 29-30.) The court also determined that the trial court improperly excluded portions of the declaration by the defense investigator relating prior statements by Juror No. 4 and Juror No. 9 which were inconsistent with the declarations by the jurors submitted by the prosecution with regard to the number of jurors involved in the improper discussions, the length of the discussions, and whether the discussions were immediately halted by the jury foreperson. (Lavender II, Slip Opn. at p. 31.)

Based upon the admissible evidence before the trial court, and after conducting a careful review of the record — including the evidence presented at trial — the Court of Appeal concluded that the presumption of prejudice had not been rebutted by the prosecution and that appellants were entitled to a new trial. (*Lavender II*, Slip Opn. at pp. 32-48.)

C. The Court of Appeal Properly Determined that, Because the Jurors Discussed Appellants' Failure to Testify and the Adverse Inferences to Be Drawn from this Fact, the Evidence Before the Trial Court Established Prejudicial Jury Misconduct.

The Fifth Amendment to the federal Constitution provides that no person "shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." "The right not to testify would be vitiated if the jury could draw adverse inferences from a defendant's failure to testify. Thus, the Fifth Amendment entitles a criminal defendant, upon request, to an instruction that will 'minimize the danger that the jury will give evidentiary weight to a

defendant's failure to testify." (*People v. Leonard*, *supra*, 40 Cal.4th at pp. 1425-1426 [quoting *Carter v. Kentucky* (1981) 450 U.S. 288, 305].) "[T]he failure to limit the jurors' speculation on the meaning of that silence, when the defendant makes a timely request that a prophylactic instruction be given, exacts an impermissible toll on the full and free exercise of the privilege." (*Griffin v. California* (1965) 380 U.S. 609, 614.)

In accordance with these principles, the trial court instructed the jury pursuant to CALCRIM No. 355 that: "A defendant has an absolute constitutional right not to testify. He or she may rely on the state of the evidence and argue that the People have failed to prove the charges beyond a reasonable doubt. Do not consider, for any reason at all, the fact that the defendant did not testify. Do not discuss that fact during your deliberations or let it influence your decision in any way." (2 CTL 332.) Despite this cautionary instruction, according to uncontroverted juror affidavits presented by the defense in support of the motion for new trial, the jury discussed the defendants' failure to testify and the adverse inferences to be drawn from this fact during its deliberations. The parties agreed, and the trial court found, that this activity constituted juror misconduct. (16 RTL 2335.) The sole dispute was whether the presumption of prejudice arising from the misconduct had been rebutted by the prosecution.

"[B]y violating the trial court's instruction not to discuss defendant's failure to testify, the jury committed misconduct. [Citations.] This misconduct gives rise to a presumption of prejudice, which 'may be rebutted . . . by a reviewing court's determination, upon examining the entire record, that there is no substantial likelihood that the complaining party suffered actual harm." (*People v. Leonard, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1425.)

In the present case the Court of Appeal undertook a careful review of the factors affecting a determination of prejudice, and concluded that the presumption of prejudice had not been rebutted. (See *Lavender II*, Slip Opn. at pp. 32-38.) In this regard the court stated: "We conclude that, because the evidentiary landscape here was devoid of forensic certainties and therefore turned entirely on close and substantial credibility assessments of the veracity of prosecution witnesses whose testimony was at best in disarray, and a 'defendant is entitled to have all 12 jurors make this [credibility] evaluation without considering whether the defendant took the stand to deny the accusations [and] [t]he defendant's silence should not be a factor adding to any inferences that the victim is telling the truth' [citation], the presumption of prejudice from the misconduct has not been rebutted." (*Lavender II*, Slip Opn. at p. 38.)

Respondent argues: "In finding that appellants had established their entitlement to a new trial, the Court of Appeal necessarily determined that the defense declarations were accurate and credible, while the prosecution's declarations were not." (Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits at p. 28.) However, this is not the case. The Court of Appeal's evaluation of the issue was based upon uncontroverted portions of the declarations submitted by the defense establishing that one or more jurors had discussed the defendants' failure to testify and the adverse inferences to be drawn from this fact. In concluding that the presumption of prejudice had not been rebutted, the court assumed the truth of the declarations submitted by the prosecution.

The fact that the jurors had discussed adverse inferences to be drawn from the defendants' failure to testify was a significant factor in the Court of Appeal's decision:

Here, unlike the situations in *Hord*, *Leonard* and *Loker*, the discussion about defendants' failure to testify was not limited to expressions of regret or curiosity, but instead was expressly linked to the adverse inference of guilt to be drawn from the failure to testify. In *Hord's* words, when such comments arise in the jury room, "the chance of prejudice increases . . . [because] the comments go beyond mere curiosity and lean more toward a juror's drawing inappropriate inferences from areas which are off limits. Such comments are more likely to influence that juror and other jurors." [Citation.]

(Lavender II, Slip Opn. at p. 38 [footnote omitted].) This fact was set forth in the declarations submitted by the defense, and was not contradicted by the declarations submitted by the prosecution.

Juror No. 4's declaration submitted by the defense stated: "[T]he fact that the defendants did not testify was discussed at length during the deliberations and also played a large part in our decision. We discussed the fact that if the defendants were innocent then they should've testified." (CTG 851.) Juror No. 10's declaration stated: "There was no testimony from the defendants and we discussed this fact during the deliberations and openly talked about why they did not testify and that this fact made them appear guilty to us." (CTG 853.) Although the prosecution submitted a clarifying declaration from Juror No. 4, minimizing the number of jurors involved in the discussions of prohibited topics and the length of the discussions, the declaration did not contradict the juror's original statement that the jurors: "discussed the fact that if the defendants were innocent then they should've testified." The prosecution did not present a declaration from Juror No. 10. There simply was no conflict in the evidence as to whether the jurors discussed adverse inferences to be drawn from the defendants' failure to testify.

In reaching its conclusion that the presumption of prejudice was not rebutted, the Court of Appeal also assumed that the declarations submitted by the prosecution were true. For example the court assumed that the jury foreperson reminded the offending jurors that they were not to consider the defendants' failure to testify. (See *Lavender II*, Slip Opn. at p. 35 ["Even assuming the foreman's declaration was credited . . ."], p. 37, fn. 31 ["Although the foreman here told the jury not to consider the *fact* of the defendant's failure to testify . . .."].)

Contrary to respondent's position, the Court of Appeal's conclusion did not require, and was not based upon, a resolution of disputed facts. Rather, the Court of Appeal's conclusion was based on the severity of the misconduct—the discussion of adverse inferences to be drawn from the defendants' failure to testify—and the overall all weaknesses in the prosecution's case against appellants. The disputed facts referred to by respondent were not material to the Court of Appeal's resolution of the issue.

## D. <u>A Remand for an Evidentiary Hearing Would Serve No</u> Legitimate Purpose in this Case.

Respondent argues that an evidentiary hearing is necessary in order to resolve factual disputes. However, the only factual disputes mentioned by respondent are immaterial to resolution of the question of whether prejudicial jury misconduct occurred. Respondent argues:

Viewed in their totality, the affidavits in this case are consistent in only one regard — that a single juror mentioned the fact that appellants had not testified. [4 GCT 899, 901, 903 [cite to declarations provided by prosecution] The declarations in this case were otherwise contradictory and thus presented several material, disputed issues of fact with respect to the nature of the misconduct that occurred: whether more than one juror mentioned appellants' failure to testify, and if so, how many jurors discussed it; how long the discussions lasted and how

extensively the topic was discussed; and whether the foreman admonished that juror or those jurors and how quickly he did so. Most important, the declarations created an additional material, disputed issue of fact, and the crucial one in this case — whether the juror or jurors who mentioned appellants' failure to testify drew the prohibited inference at all, by expressly linking appellants' silence to the question of their guilt or innocence, and therefore expressed their intention to disregard the trial court's instructions.

(Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits at pp. 20-21.) However, none of claimed factual disputes related to *material* issues of fact.

The question of how many jurors discussed the defendants' failure to testify is immaterial since it is well settled that "[a] defendant is 'entitled to be tried by 12, not 11, impartial and unprejudiced jurors. "Because a defendant charged with a crime has a right to the unanimous verdict of 12 impartial jurors [citation], it is settled that a conviction cannot stand if even a single juror has been improperly influenced." [Citations.]' [Citation.]" (*People v. Nesler, supra*, 16 Cal.4th at p. 578.)

Additionally, whether and how quickly the offending juror or jurors were admonished by the foreperson was also immaterial. As the Court of Appeal noted: "Although the foreman here told the jury not to consider the fact of the defendant's failure to testify, as occurred in Loker and Hord... neither Loker nor Hord involved a jury that also discussed the inference of guilt it would draw from that fact, and therefore neither case supports the notion that a jury foreman's admonition can cure the taint created by such discussions. Indeed, when a jury chooses to place that inference on the table notwithstanding the court's express prior instruction not to consider the same inference, we have difficulty understanding why the foreman's repetition of that instruction would have any curative effect on a jury that has already

evinced a willingness to disregard the court's instructions." (*Lavender II*, Slip Opn. at p. 37, fn. 31 [emphasis in original].) Moreover, respondent cannot hope to prove that the foreman's admonition did anything other than stop the discussion. The defendants' failure to testify may still have affected the decision of at least one of the jurors. The extent to which any of the jurors relied upon the foreman's admonition rather than the prohibited matter cannot be determined at an evidentiary hearing in light of the prohibition of inquiry into the thought processes of jurors contained in Evidence Code section 1150.

Similarly, with regard to the final issue of fact referenced by respondent—"whether the juror or jurors who mentioned appellants' failure to testify drew the prohibited inference at all, by expressly linking appellants' silence to the question of their guilt or innocence"—this is an issue not subject to proof at an evidentiary hearing in light of the prohibition of inquiry into the thought processes of jurors. (See *In re Carpenter*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at pp. 651-652.) The only proper inquiry would be whether the jurors *discussed* negative inferences to be drawn from the defendants' failure to testify. On this point there was no conflict in the declarations. The defense presented declarations indicating that adverse inferences were discussed, and the prosecution did not present any declarations expressly contradicting the defense declarations on this point.

Respondent also argues that following statements contained in the juror declarations are ambiguous:

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